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Dear Shareholders,
After greetings,
I have the pleasure for myself and on behalf of the members of Board of Directors to present to you KFIC’s 16th
annual report for 2016, in which we review the results of KFIC’s activities and its financial position for this year.
The Macroeconomic Environment
Oil prices have stabilized in year 2016 where the average price of Brent crude oil amounted to $44 per barrel,
after the collapse of those prices since the beginning of mid-2014, where the price of the oil barrel was at the
level of $115 in June 2014.
OPEC’s agreement reached in November 2016 to cut the daily production by 1.2 million barrels led to
expectations that oil prices will stabilize at levels of $50 in 2017. Although the GCC oil revenues declined
significantly since the beginning of the second half of the year 2014, However, it is not likely in the short term
that Gulf countries would witness a reduction of expenditures, as most of these countries have strong reserves
that support continuous expenditure during the periods that whiteness a setback in prices.
In terms of the financial markets, Gulf Stock Markets rallied during the fourth quarter of 2016 reinforced by the
stability of oil prices. Gulf capital markets performance according to MSCI GCC index, gained 9.46% in 2016.

Kuwait
The Kuwaiti Government announced economic reform document based on 6 main pillars to cope with the
effects of the decline in oil prices, a part from such reform is being implemented. The Government continued
to launch projects through 2016, and announced an investment spending in 2016/2017 budget with an amount
of 3.3 billion dinars, with an increase by about 200 million dinars compared to 2015/2016 budget. According to
IMF estimates, the economic growth of the non-oil sector is expected to be around 3% during 2017 driven by
sustained government spending.
As for credit growth, it increased during the year 2016 by 2.9% compared to the year 2015 to reach KD 34.3
billion.
Local real estate market also witnessed a slowdown during this period, where year 2016 is considered to be
the worst year in the last six years, where total sales amounted to 2.3 billion dinars in 2016, compared to KD 3
billion in 2015 with a drop of 23% resulting to a significant decline in the real estate prices during 2016.
Central Bank of Kuwait has increased the discount rate by 0.25% in December in a response to the increase
in interest rates announced by the Federal Reserve.
Kuwaiti dinar witnessed decline against the US dollar by about 3% in 2016 due to the remarkable improvement
in the US economy, where the price of the Kuwaiti Dinar against the US dollar was 3.2 as of “31 December
2016” compared to 3.3 as of “31 December 2015”.
The banking sector in general witnessed a remarkable improvement, as provisions for credit losses for doubtful
debts declined and banks recorded a growth in their profits during the year.
During the year 2016, the annual trading volume in the Kuwait Stock Exchange market amounted to
approximately 2.9 billion dinars with a decline of 27.5% compared to the year 2015, where trading volume
amounted to approximately 4 billion dinars. The Kuwait Stock Exchange index recorded gains during the fourth
quarter of the year which led to a rise in the price index by 3.4% as well as in the weighted average index by
0.4% during 2016. The Kuwait Stock Exchange was affected by the low liquidity levels which in turn had a
negative impact on the revenues of brokerage as well as asset management activities in year 2016.
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2016 Results
KFIC realized net operating profit before interests and taxes with an amount of approximately KD 891K for
year 2016, compared with profits of approximately KD 1,435K for year 2015 with a decrease of approximately
KD 544K equivalent to 38%. The decline in net operating profit for 2016 compared to 2015 is mainly due to the
fact that during 2015, some of the non-performing loans have been settled, resulting to a recovery of some of
the provisions formed against such loans. KFIC’s net profit amounted to approximately KD 212K for the year
2016 compared to net profit of approximately KD 847K for the year 2015, with a decrease of approximately
KD 635K.
Below is a summary of the results of the company’s divisions in 2016 in comparison with 2015:
Investment
Finance

Asset
Management

&
Corporate
finance

KFIC
Private
Equity
Fund

Financial
Brokerage
&

Total

Online
trading

2016
Allocated revenues

2,112,123

Allocated expenses

(1,549,965)

Division ’s results

562,158

1,292,838

1,203,888

(197,368)

(857,814)

(619,454)

(22,684)

435,024

584,434

(220,052)

400,824

4,812,305

(871,353) (3,921,270)
(470,529)

891,035

Non-allocated revenues

99,930

Non-allocated expenses

(778,832)
212,133

Net profit

Finance

Asset
Management

Investment
&
Corporate
finance

KFIC
Private
Equity
Fund

Financial
Brokerage
&
Online
trading

Total

2015
Allocated revenues

2,452,378

809,614

790,927

Allocated expenses

(365,592)

(901,498)

(549,018)

Division ’s results

2,086,786

(91,884)

241,909

(240,891)

598,455

4,410,483

(10,897) (1,148,711) (2,975,716)
(251,788)

(550,256)

1,434,767

Non-allocated revenues

49,124

Non-allocated expenses

(636,546)

Net profit

847,345

The year 2016 witnessed a decrease in costs of wages and salaries by 7.5%. The number of group’s employees
were 145 employees in December 2016 compared to 144 employees in December 2015. The other operating
expenses is decreased with 4% approximately, due to the company’s ability to reduce some of its expenses.
The finance costs increased with an amount of KD 63,207 with 8% increase due to consolidating a newly
founded subsidiary to acquire real estate assets in the United States of America.
Below is a comparative summary of operating expenses and finance costs of KFIC for the years 2016 and
2015.
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2016
Wages and salaries
Depreciation
Other operating expenses
Finance cost

2015

2,295,225

2,481,618

109,899

114,643

1,287,398

1,347,458

877,849

814,642

4,570,371

4,758,361

Below is a brief on the Company’s Divisions
Finance Services Division
The carrying value of finance portfolio has amounted to approximately KD 17.2 million as of 31/12/2016 with
a decrease of approximately KD 8.6M compared to its carrying value of approximately KD 25.8 million as of
31/12/2015. The decrease is mainly due to the repayments of some of the commercial loans during the year.
The division maintained an acceptable level of revenues, where revenues decreased slightly during year 2016
compared to year 2015. The finance division realized revenues with KD 2.1 million in year 2016, compared
to KD 2.4 million in year 2015. The net profit of the division has amounted to approximately KD 600K in year
2016 compared to a profit of approximately KD 2.1M in 2015. The decline in the net profit is mainly due to
the settlement of debts of some delinquent clients that took place during the last year and the recovery of
provisions recorded for such debts with an amount of KD 1.1M approximately. The company has been able to
reduce the non-performing loans significantly over the last years, from KD 14.2M as of 31/12/2010 to KD 9M
as of 31/12/2016. The majority of those loans are loans provided in year 2010 and earlier (Before Restructure
Phase). KFIC’s plans in this division is to continue the efforts to reach a settlement with the other delinquent
clients until collecting its dues from those clients either through amicable solutions or via legal channels, in
addition to that maintaining an acceptable growth level of the portfolio volume sufficient to cover the operating
costs and achieve a return that exceeds the cost of capital.
Asset Management Division
The funds under management and custody have amounted to approximately KD 219 million in 2016 compared
to approximately KD 236 million in 2015 with a decrease of approximately 7.1 % compared to 2015. This
decrease is mainly because, several clients have liquidated their investments kept under custody besides the
decrease in the stock markets which led to a decrease in the market value of PFs. Despite this, the revenues
of this segment has increased from KD 810K in year 2015 to KD 1,293K in 2016 as KFIC has succeeded
during this year to collect management fees due from previous years. This division has been equipped by the
necessary human resources specialized in researches, strategies and investment management in international
markets to be able to provide better services to our clients and to attract new funds to achieve revenues growth.
The funds managed by KFIC have achieved acceptable levels of performance during the year. Al Wasm Fund
(For investment in equity in Kuwait Stock Exchange Market) has recorded negative return of -6 % by the
end of the year compared to KSE weighed index which incurred losses of
-0.4%. Al Wasm Fund has
maintained the third rank in respect of performance compared to the other local funds.
Al-Bashaer Fund (An Equity Fund for investing in companies working in accordance with Islamic Sharia
Principals in GCC markets) recorded gains of 3.3% compared to MSCI Index for Equity in GCC, where it
recorded 9.46% in year 2010.
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Investment and Corporate Finance Division
This division adopts a business model to continuously generate revenues from consultancy services’ fees
as well as returns from yielding investments allocated in diversified geographical areas. This division also
offers consultancy services for solutions and products fits KFIC’s clients in Kuwait as well as KFIC’s strategic
partners in the Arabian Gulf Region.
This division has achieved positive results this year where the division’s net profit amounted to approximately
KD 584K in 2016 compared to profit of approximately KD 242K in 2015. This development is due to realizing
profit with an amount of approximately KD 844K from liquidating KFIC PE Fund and realizing good returns
from the new investments that KFIC sponsored starting from year 2014. As an implementation of KFIC’s
strategy to diversify its investments in different sectors and in different geographic locations. Such strategy has
proved its viability, where returns from those investments compensated the impairment in equity investments
as well as the losses of charges in the fair value in the local investment properties that have been recorded.
As an implementation for KFIC’s strategy in investing into medium and long term assets allocated in different
geographic industries (Kuwait/GCC/USA) reflecting KFIC’s strategy to diversify its investment portfolio to
reduce risks and to ensure a generation of return not less than the cost of capital and to generate sustainable
cash flows. KFIC has invested during the year in new real investment in the USA with an amount of KD 3.3M.
The revenues of such new investment has amounted to KD 130K during the year yielding 8% as rate of return.
Over the last two years, KFIC exited from its non-yielding investments (Arab Finance House, Gulf Financial
Company, CINET Company). KFIC has plans for exiting from some of its direct investments in the coming
years.
KFIC Private Equity Fund
During the year, it was decided to liquidate KFIC Private Equity Fund and its tangible assets are to be distributed
to the unit holders. KFIC and its subsidiary own 66.7% of the Fund.The Fund has incurred losses during 2015
of approximately KD 252K where in year 2016, the losses amounted to approximately KD 221K up to the date
of the liquidation. Those losses represented unrealized losses resulting from the changes in the fair value of
the Fund investments.
Brokerage and Online Trading Division
KFIC through its subsidiary, KFIC Financial Brokerage Company (KFICB), still occupies a leading position
amongst 14 brokerage companies operating in Kuwait. The company came in the 7th position in terms of
trading volume in 2016. The brokerage revenues witnessed sever decline in year 2016 compared to year 2015
due to the severe decline in the trading volume in KSE, where the trading volume declined from approximately
KD 4 billion in 2015 to approximately KD 2.9 billion in 2016, this has negatively impacted the business results
of this division. The brokerage revenues of this division amounted to KD 401K in 2016 in comparison with KD
598K in 2015 with a decline rate of 33%.
KFIC’s Financial Position
The total assets amounted to approximately KD 68.1M as of 31/12/2016 with an increase of 9% compared to
the total assets amounting to approximately KD 62.3M as of 31/12/2015.
Total liabilities amounted to KD 26.4M as of 31/12/2016 with an increase of 27% compared to the total liabilities
amounting to approximately KD 20.8M as of 31/12/2015. This is mainly due to consolidating a subsidiary that
acquired real estate in the USA.
KFIC’s equity in 2016 has increased up to approximately KD 41.7M from approximately KD 41.5M in 2015 at
an approximate increase rate of 0.4%.
Below are the key indicators of KFIC financial position as of 31/12/2016 in comparison with 31/12/2015.
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Index

2015

2014

23%

20%

0.6 times

0.5 times

Quick liquidity percentage

35%

28%

Operational return of assets

0.3%

1.6%

Operational return of equity

0.5%

2.5%

Debt ratios
Liabilities: equity

The parameters above indicate the low levels of leverage and the high levels of liquidity reflect the solid
financial position of KFIC to enable it to grow in its business.
The Board of Directors has recommended to the general assembly of shareholders not to distribute dividends
after supporting the company’s reserves with an amount of KD 30,000.

Conclusion
In the conclusion, I would like to extend sincere thanks and appreciation to all KFIC shareholders for their
support to the company as well as to KFIC’s clients for their valued confidence in KFIC board of directors and
executive management.
I would also like to extend thanks to the regulatory authorities, notably Capital Markets Authority and Central
Bank of Kuwait for their productive directives and continuous follow up for ensure the stability and integrity of
financial sector in the State of Kuwait.
Finally, on behalf of the members of board of directors I would like to thank the executive management and all
company’s employees for their efforts to achieve KFIC’s strategy and objectives.
May God make us successful!

Saleh Y. Al Homaizi
Chairman
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Kuwait Finance and Investment Company K.S.C. (Public)
and its subsidiaries
Kuwait Finance and Investment Company K.S.C. (Public)
and its subsidiaries
Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position
(All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars unless otherwise stated)
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
(All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars unless otherwise stated)
Note
Assets
Bank balances and cash
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Bank
balances
andfinancial
cash
Available
for sale
assets
Financial
assets
at
fair
Finance receivables value through profit or loss
Available
for sale financial assets
Other assets
Finance
receivables
Investments in associates
Other
assetsproperties
Investment
Investments
associates
Property andinequipment
Investment
properties
Intangible assets
Property
and
Total assets equipment
Intangible assets
Total assets
Liabilities and equity
Liabilities
Liabilities
Borrowingsand equity
Liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Total liabilities
Other liabilities
Equity
Total liabilities
Equity attributable to the equity holders
Equity
of the Parent Company
Equity
attributable to the equity holders
Share capital
of the Parent
Company
Statutory
reserve
Share
capital
General reserve
Statutory shares
reserve
Treasury
General
reserve
Fair value reserve
Treasurycurrency
shares translation reserve
Foreign
Fair
value
reserve reserve
Equity transactions
Foreign currency
Retained
earningstranslation reserve
Equity
transactions
Equity attributable reserve
to equity holders of the Parent
Retained
earnings
Company
Equity attributable
to equity holders of the Parent
Non-controlling
interests
Company
Total
equity
Non-controlling
interests
Total liabilities and
equity
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

Note
5
6
57
68
79
8
10
9
11
10
11
12

As of 31 December
2016
2015
As of 31 December
2016
9,271,653
2,842,619
9,271,653
5,362,502
2,842,619
17,189,412
5,362,502
1,661,950
17,189,412
6,954,961
1,661,950
15,422,533
6,954,961
314,702
15,422,533
9,057,299
314,702
68,077,631
9,057,299
68,077,631

2015
5,874,784
8,740,796
5,874,784
2,370,777
8,740,796
25,804,174
2,370,777
1,327,827
25,804,174
6,446,547
1,327,827
2,450,000
6,446,547
267,414
2,450,000
9,057,299
267,414
62,339,618
9,057,299
62,339,618

13
14
13
14

21,821,496
4,603,919
21,821,496
26,425,415
4,603,919
26,425,415

16,625,719
4,172,282
16,625,719
20,798,001
4,172,282
20,798,001

15.1
15.2
15.1
15.3
15.2
15.4
15.3
15.4

32,249,138
2,066,535
32,249,138
750,000
2,066,535
(3,145,214)
750,000
393,244
(3,145,214)
278,855
393,244
751,127
278,855
4,817,779
751,127
4,817,779
38,161,464

32,249,138
2,036,535
32,249,138
750,000
2,036,535
(3,145,214)
750,000
49,057
(3,145,214)
1,070,500
49,057
130,781
1,070,500
5,256,634
130,781
5,256,634
38,397,431

19

3,490,752
38,161,464
41,652,216
3,490,752
68,077,631
41,652,216
68,077,631

3,144,186
38,397,431
41,541,617
3,144,186
62,339,618
41,541,617
62,339,618
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Saleh Yacoub Al Humaizi
Riham F. AlGhanim
Tareq Mishari Al-Bahar
Chairman
Vice Chairperson
Board Member & CEO
Saleh Yacoub Al Humaizi
Riham F. AlGhanim
Tareq Mishari Al-Bahar
Chairman
Vice Chairperson
Board Member & CEO
The accompanying notes on pages 12 to 43 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The accompanying notes on pages 12 to 43 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes on pages 12 to 43 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Kuwait Finance and Investment Company K.S.C. (Public)
and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Income
(All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars unless otherwise stated)
Year ended 31 December
Revenues
Finance income
Management and advisory fees
Brokerage commissions
Investment loss
Rental income
Group’s profits from associates
Foreign currency gains
Other income
Expenses
Finance costs
Staff costs
General, administrative and marketing expenses
Depreciation
Credit losses (provided for) / recovered
Provision for doubtful debts (provided for) / recovered

Note

17
10

8

Profit for the year before taxes
National labour support tax
Zakat expenses
Profit for the year
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interests
Profit for the year
Earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the
Parent Company (fils)

2016

2015

2,059,014
1,351,136
411,969
(382,992)
433,234
138,190
801,754
99,930
4,912,235

2,360,183
1,050,814
662,395
(406,840)
143,486
573,170
27,275
49,124
4,459,607

(877,849)
(2,295,225)
(1,287,398)
(109,899)
(114,110)
(7,766)
(4,692,247)

(814,642)
(2,481,618)
(1,347,458)
(114,643)
1,142,348
37,046
(3,578,967)

219,988
(5,611)
(2,244)
212,133

880,640
(23,782)
(9,513)
847,345

211,491
642
212,133

985,673
(138,328)
847,345

0.7

3.2
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The accompanying notes on pages 12 to 43 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes on pages 12 to 43 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Kuwait Finance and Investment Company K.S.C. (Public)
and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
(All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars unless otherwise stated)
Year ended 31 December
2016

2015

212,133

847,345

(85,520)
79,880

(186,207)
395,885

72,398
85,521

40,762
12,083

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive (loss) / income:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to consolidated statement of
income
Change in fair value of available for sale financial assets
Impairment loss of available for sale financial assets (Note 17)
Transferred to consolidated statement of income on sale of available
for sale financial assets (Note 17)
Foreign currency translation differences
Foreign currency translation differences transferred to consolidated statement
of income on a liquidation of a subsidiary (Note 19)
Share of other comprehensive income of associates
Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the year
Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year

(844,796)
274,890
(417,627)
(205,494)

231,605
494,128
1,341,473

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interests
Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year

(235,967)
30,473
(205,494)

1,477,546
(136,073)
1,341,473

The accompanying notes on pages 12 to 43 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes on pages 12 to 43 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Balance as of 31 December 2016

150,000
2,036,535
30,000

1,535,673
32,249,138
-

-

-

750,000

(3,145,214)

-

-

-

-

-

750,000

-

150,000

-

(3,145,214)

-

-

393,244

277,425
344,187
344,187
-

72,398
-

(85,516)
79,880

329,268
329,268
49,057

40,762
81,083

(188,462)
395,885

Fair value
reserve
(280,211)

278,855

(844,796)
(2,535)
(791,645)
(791,645)
-

55,686

-

162,605
162,605
1,070,500

12,083
150,522

-

751,127

620,346
-

-

-

130,781

-

-

Equity
transactions
reserve
130,781

4,817,779

211,491
211,491
(620,346)
(30,000)

-

-

985,673
985,673
(300,000)
(1,535,673)
5,256,634

-

-

Retained
earnings
6,106,634

The accompanying notes on pages 12 to 43 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2,066,535

-

-

32,249,138

-

-

Treasury
shares
(3,145,214)

General
reserve
600,000

38,161,464

(844,796)
274,890
(447,458)
211,491
(235,967)
-

72,398
55,686

(85,516)
79,880

491,873
985,673
1,477,546
38,397,431

40,762
12,083
231,605

(188,462)
395,885

Sub-total
36,919,885

10
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Total comprehensive income /(loss) for the year
Establishing new subsidiaries
Transfers between equity components (Note 19)
Liquidation of a subsidiary
Transfere to reserve

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year
Net movement in non-controlling interests
Transfers to reserves
Bonus share dividends
Balance as of 31 December 2015
Other comprehensive income:
Change in fair value of available for sale financial assets
Impairment loss of available for sale financial assets
Transferred to consolidated statement of income on sale of
available for sale financial assets
Foreign currency translation differences
Foreign currency translation transferred to consolidated
statement of income on a liquidation of subsidiary
(Note 19)
Share of other comprehensive income / (loss) of associates
Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year
Profit for the year

Balance as of 31 December 2014
Other comprehensive income:
Change in fair value of available for sale financial assets
Impairment loss of available for sale financial assets
Transferred to consolidated statement of income on sale of
available for sale financial assets
Foreign currency translation differences
Share of other comprehensive income of associates
Other comprehensive income for the year
Profit/(loss) for the year

Statutory
reserve
1,886,535

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve
907,895

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company
Share
Capital
30,713,465

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
(All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars unless otherwise stated)

Kuwait Finance and Investment Company K.S.C. (Public)
and its subsidiaries

3,490,752

29,831
642
30,473
2,034,902
(1,718,809)
-

29,835

(4)
-

2,255
(138,328)
(136,073)
(123,553)
3,144,186

-

2,255
-

Noncontrolling
interests
3,403,812

41,652,216

(844,796)
274,890
(417,627)
212,133
(205,494)
2,034,902
(1,718,809)
-

72,398
85,521

(85,520)
79,880

494,128
847,345
1,341,473
(123,553)
41,541,617

40,762
12,083
231,605

(186,207)
395,885

Total
Equity
40,323,697

Kuwait Finance and Investment Company K.S.C. (Public)
and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars unless otherwise stated)
Note

Year ended 31 December
2016
2015 i.
ii.

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Loss from available for sale financial assets
Dividends income from financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Loss / (profit) from change in fair value of investment properties
Group’s profit from associates
Foreign currency gain
Finance costs
Depreciation
Credit losses provided for / (recovered)
Provision/ (recovery of provision) for doubtful debts
Operating profit before changes in operating assets and liabilities
Finance receivables
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Other assets
Other liabilities
Net cash generated from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Net movement of property and equipment
Dividends received
Purchase of available for sale financial assets
Proceeds from sale of available for sale financial assets
Dividends received from associates
Purchase of additional share in an associate
Cash used from liquidation of a subsidiary
Fixed deposits with a maturity greater than three months from the date
of placement
Release of restricted cash and fixed deposits

212,133

847,345

17

17,011

235,182

17

(99,024)
186,035
(138,190)
(844,796)
877,849
109,899
114,110
7,766
442,793
8,500,652
312,786
226,746
89,134

(134,488)
(345)
(573,170)
814,642
114,643
(1,142,348)
(37,046)
124,415
220,461
177,294
(97,297)
658,725

9,572,111

1,083,598

(157,187)
234,291
(300,885)
725,718
269,120
(134,191)

(102,358)
335,953
(2,018,122)
4,366,408
101,151
(1,233,089)
-

(85)
1,373,408
2,010,189

855,093
186,734
2,491,770

(4,940,057)
2,240,057
(5,262,791)
(884,219)

(4,000,000)
(782,070)

2,034,902

-

-

(123,553)

(6,812,108)

(4,905,623)

4,770,192
3,336,803
8,106,995

(1,330,255)
4,667,058
3,336,803

17
10

8

10
19
5
5

Net cash generated from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of term loans and murabaha
Proceeds from term loan
Payment of finance lease liability
Finance costs paid

13

Non-controlling interests share in newly established subsidiaries
Net movement in non-controlling interests
Net cash used in financing activities
Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

5

The accompanying notes on pages 12 to 43 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes on pages 12 to 43 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Kuwait Finance and Investment Company K.S.C. (Public)
and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars unless otherwise stated)
1-

Incorporation and activities
Kuwait Finance and Investment Company K.S.C. (Public) (the Parent Company) is a Kuwaiti
Shareholding Company incorporated on 29 March 2000 in accordance with Commercial Companies
Law No. 15 of 1960 which was replaced by Law no 1 of year 2016 ( New Companies’ Law). The Parent
Company is regulated by the Capital Markets Authority (CMA) as an investment company in
accordance with law no. 7 of year 2010 and amended by law no. 108 of year 2014 and law no. 22 of
year 2015. It is also subject to the supervision of the Central Bank of Kuwait (CBK) as an investment
company practicing finance activities.
The Parent Company’s shares are listed on the Kuwait Stock Exchange (KSE).
The Parent Company's registered office is at Arabia Tower, Sharq, P.O. Box 21521, Safat 13037, Kuwait.
The Parent Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”) which have been
disclosed in note (19) are principally engaged in consumer and commercial lending activities, lease, sell
and buy vehicles, managing funds and portfolios on behalf of clients, investment banking activities,
brokerage activities and providing financial and consulting services and investing in securities and real
estate.
These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 12
March 2017 and are subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Parent Company in the Annual
Meeting of General Assembly.
On 13 June 2016, the general assembly of the shareholders of the Parent Company was held and
approved the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 and
approved no distribution of dividends.
The number of employees of the Group as of 31 December 2016 is 144 (31 December 2015: 144)
employees.

2-

Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented.

2.1

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the regulations of the State
of Kuwait for financial institutions regulated by the CBK. Those regulations require adoption of all
International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) except for the International Accounting Standard IAS
39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement requirements for collective provision, which has
been replaced by the CBK’s requirements for a minimum general provision as described in note (2.6).
The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Kuwaiti Dinar which is also the Parent
Company’s functional and presentation currency, and have been prepared under the historical cost
convention except for the measurement at fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
available for sale financial assets and investment properties.

2.1.1

Changes in IFRSs effective from 1 January 2016
Certain changes in IFRSs become effective from 1 January 2016. Those changes had no material impact
on the accounting policies, financial performance or the financial position of the Group.

2.2

Use of estimates in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
In preparing these consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS as adopted by the State of
Kuwait for financial institutions regulated by the CBK, management is required to make estimates and
assumptions that affect reported income, expenses, assets and liabilities which are recorded in these
consolidated financial statements and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the reporting date.
Use of available information and application of judgment are inherent in the formation of estimates, which
might lead to actual results in the future being different from such estimates.
The areas involving a high degree of judgment or complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note (3).
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Kuwait Finance and Investment Company K.S.C. (Public)
and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars unless otherwise stated)
2-

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.3

Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the power to control the investee. Control is to be
met when the Group has all of the following:
A) Power over the investee, which is determined to exist when the Group has existing rights that give
it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee which are the activities that
significantly affect the investee’s returns;
B) Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, which is determined
to exist when the Group’s returns from its involvement have the potential to vary as a result of the
investee’s performance; and
C) The ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s returns, thus in
order to have this ability, the Group shall determine whether it is a principal or an agent. The Group
will be considered having this ability if it exercises its ability over the investee as a principal and
not as an agent.
The Group shall consider all facts and circumstances when assessing whether it controls an investee.
The Group shall reassess whether it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. List of subsidiaries is disclosed in note (19).
Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions
and other events in similar circumstances. Intra group balances and transactions and unrealized gain or
loss are eliminated in full. If the control is lost over a subsidiary, the Group derecognizes the assets
(including any goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts at the date when
control is lost as well as related non-controlling interests. Any investment retained is recognized at fair
value at the date when control is lost. Any resulting difference along with amounts previously
recognized in the equity is transferred to the consolidated statement of income.
Non-controlling interest is stated at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquirer’s
identifiable net assets at the acquisition date and the non-controlling interest’s share of changes in the
equity since the date of the combination. Equity and net income are attributed to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. Non-controlling
interest is presented separately in the consolidated statements of financial position, income and
comprehensive income.
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests which do not result in loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group. For purchases from non-controlling interests, the
difference between any consideration paid and the Parent Company’s share acquired of the carrying
value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity as “Equity transactions reserve”. Gains or
losses on disposals to non-controlling interests that do not result to a loss of control are also recorded in
equity as “Equity transactions reserve”.

2.4

Business combinations
Business combination is a process of combining separate entities into one entity in which the buyer obtains
control over one or more business. The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition is measured as the fair values of the assets
given, equity interests issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of the exchange. The
consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognized in accordance with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a
change to other comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
The acquisition related costs are expensed when incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination (net assets acquired in a business combination)
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
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22.4

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)
Goodwill arises in a business combination is computed as the excess of the aggregate of: the consideration
transferred; the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets, if any;
and the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree, over the
acquisition-date fair values of the net assets acquired in a business combination. Goodwill is not amortized,
it is tested yearly for impairment and, additionally, when a reasonable indication of impairment exists.
If the aggregate of: the consideration transferred, the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net identifiable assets, if any; and the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is lower than the fair values of the net assets acquired in a business
combination, the difference is recognized in the consolidated statement of income.
When a business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated
statement of income.
The Group separately recognizes contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination if it is a present
obligation that arises from past events and its fair value can be measured reliably.
The Group uses provisional values for the initial accounting of a business combination and recognizes any
adjustment to these provisional values within the measurement period which is twelve months from the
acquisition date.

2.5

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows include cash at banks, cash in
portfolios and fixed deposits with banks and financial institutions, whose original maturities do not exceed
three months from the date of placement.

2.6

Financial instruments
Classification
The Group classifies its financial instruments upon initial recognition based on the purpose of acquiring the
financial instruments. The Group classifies its financial assets as “at fair value through profit or loss”, “loans
and receivables”, “held to maturity” or “available for sale”. The Group classifies its financial liabilities as
“financial liabilities other than at fair value through profit or loss”.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading and those designated
at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. A financial asset is classified as held for trading
if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at their initial recognition date and only if the
criteria under IAS 39 are satisfied. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are reported in a
separate line item in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market, and are not those for which the Group may not recover substantially all of its
initial net investment, other than because of credit deterioration. The Group's loans and receivables comprise
of finance receivables (which include originated loans where loan is provided directly to the borrower,
participation in a loan from another lender and purchased loans), other receivables, bank balances and cash
in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Financial assets held to maturity
Held to maturity investments are investments with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that
the Group has the intention and ability to hold to maturity. Financial assets held to maturity are reported in
a separate line item in the consolidated statement of financial position. As of 31 December 2016 and 2015,
the Group did not have held to maturity investments as part of its financial assets.
Available for sale financial assets
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that either are designated as available
for sale or are not classified in any of the other category. Available for sale financial assets are reported in a
separate line item in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Kuwait Finance and Investment Company - K.S.C 14
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22.6

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Classification (Continued)
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities “other than at fair value through profit or loss” are represented in borrowings and other
liabilities. Equity interests are classified as financial liabilities if there is a contractual obligation to deliver
cash or another financial asset.
Recognition and de-recognition
A financial asset or a financial liability is recognized when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. A financial asset is de-recognized when: the rights to receive cash flows from
the asset have expired, or the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed
an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “ pass through” arrangement,
or the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset and either has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. When the Group has transferred its
rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or
expires. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and recognition of a new liability.
All regular way purchase and sale of financial assets are recognized on the trade date, which is the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the financial instrument.
Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position when there is a legal enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
legal enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course
of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.
Measurement
Financial assets are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not
classified at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets classified at fair value through profit or loss
are initially recognized at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the consolidated statement of
income. Subsequently, available for sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are re-measured at fair value. Held to maturity investments and loans and receivables are carried at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method less any provision for impairment losses.
Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss category are included in the consolidated statement of income in the period in which they arise. Changes
in the fair value of monetary and non-monetary securities classified as available for sale are recognized in
other comprehensive income. When available for sale financial assets are sold or impaired, the accumulated
changes in fair value recognized in equity are transferred to the consolidated statement of income.
Financial liabilities other than at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured and carried at amortized cost using the effective
interest rate method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognized in the consolidated statement of income using the effective interest method.
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22.6

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets
(A) Financial assets held to maturity and loans and receivables
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is an objective evidence that a financial
asset or group of financial assets is impaired.
Objective evidence of impairment includes, for example, a significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or probability that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or financial re-organization. A provision for credit losses is reported as a reduction of the
carrying value of the loan in the consolidated statement of financial position. Additions to provisions for
credit losses are recorded as an expense in the consolidated statement of income.
Provisions for credit losses are evaluated based on the assumption that, a loan is considered impaired when
management determines that it is probable that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due
according to the original contractual terms. Individual credit exposures are evaluated based on the
borrower’s character, overall financial condition, resources and payment record, the prospects for support
from any financially responsible guarantors and, where applicable, the realizable value of any collateral (if
any).
The estimated recoverable amount is the present value, using the loan’s original effective interest rate, of
expected future cash flows excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred, including amounts
that may result from restructuring or the liquidation of collateral. Impairment is measured and provisions
for credit losses are established for the difference between the carrying amount and the estimated recoverable
amount.
All impaired loans are generally reviewed and analyzed at least annually. Any subsequent changes to the
amounts and timing of the expected future cash flows compared with the prior estimates result in a change
in the provision for credit losses and are charged or credited to credit loss expense.
A write-off is made when all or part of a loan is deemed uncollectible or forgiven. Write-offs are charged
against previously established provisions for credit losses and any excess above the provision is recorded as
credit loss expenses and reduces the principal amount of the loan. Recoveries in part or in full of amounts
previously written off are credited to credit loss expense.
A loan is classified as non-performing when the payment of interest or principal is overdue by more than 90
days or insolvency proceedings have commenced against the client.
In addition, in accordance with (CBK) instructions, a minimum general provision of 1% for cash facilities
and 0.5% for non-cash facilities is made on all loans (net of certain restricted categories of collateral) that
are not provided for specific provision.
(B) Available for sale financial assets
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is an objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. For debt securities classified as available for sale financial
assets, the Group uses the criteria referred to in (A) above to determine whether there is evidence on whether
assets are impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of assets below its cost is also an evidence that the assets are impaired. If any such
evidence exists for available for sale financial assets, the cumulative loss measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously
recognized in the consolidated statement of income, is removed from equity and recognized in the
consolidated statement of income.
Impairment losses on available for sale financial assets for equity instruments recognized in the consolidated
statement of income are not reversed through the consolidated statement of income, such reverse is
recognized as other comprehensive income. For debt instruments classified as available for sale, if in a
subsequent period, the fair value increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognized in the consolidated statement of income, the impairment loss is
reversed through the consolidated statement of income.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.7

Investments in associates
Associates are those entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. The excess of the cost of
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
recognized as goodwill. Goodwill on acquisition of associates is included in the carrying values of
investments in associates. Investments in associates are initially recognized at cost and are subsequently
accounted for using the equity method of accounting from the date of obtaining significant influence to the
date it ceases. Under the equity method, the Group recognizes in the consolidated statement of income, its
share of the associate’s post acquisition profit or loss, and in other comprehensive income, its share of post
acquisition movements in reserves that the associate directly recognizes in equity. The cumulative post
acquisition adjustments, and any impairment, are directly adjusted against the carrying value of the
associates. Appropriate adjustments such as depreciation, amortization and impairment losses are made to
the Group’s share of profit or loss after acquisition to account for the effect of fair value adjustments made
at the time of acquisition.
If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including
any other unsecured receivable, the Group does not recognize further losses unless it has incurred obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.
After application of the equity method, the Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any
objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates
the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying
value and recognizes the amount as ‘Impairment loss of investment in associates’ in the consolidated
statement of income.
Profit and loss resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its associates
are recognized in the Group’s financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the
associates. Unrealized losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the associates are to be changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

2.8

Goodwill and intangible assets
Goodwill is measured as described in note (2.4). When calculating gains and losses on disposal of an entity
or a part of an entity, the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity or the portion sold is taken into
consideration as part from the carrying amount of that entity or that portion sold.
Intangible assets comprise separately identifiable intangible items arising from business combinations and
certain purchased license. Intangible assets with definite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairment losses, while intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not
amortized and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Subsequently, intangible assets with
definite useful lives are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful economic life,
generally not exceeding 20 years, while intangible assets such as brokerage license with an indefinite useful
life are not amortized and tested for impairment annually.

2.9

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, and are accounted
for using the fair value model.
Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequently, investment
properties are re-measured at fair value on an individual basis based on valuations by independent real
estate appraisers. The Group uses the lesser valuation in determining the fair value. The Group reevaluates
investments properties on a semi-annual basis or upon occurrence of any material changes in the market
conditions whichever is earlier. Changes in fair value are taken to the consolidated statement of income.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Investment properties (Continued)
Subsequent expenditure is capitalized to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed when incurred. When part of an
investment property is replaced, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized.
Investment properties are de-recognized when either they have been disposed of or when they are
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains
or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognized in the consolidated
statement of income in the year of retirement or disposal.
Transfers are made to or from investment properties only when there is a change in use. For a transfer
from investment properties to owner-occupied properties, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is
the fair value at the date of change in use. If owner-occupied property becomes an investment property,
the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy followed in recognizing and
measuring property and equipment up to the date of change in use.

2.10 Property and equipment
Property and equipment include own-used properties, software and other office equipment. Property and
equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, and are
periodically reviewed for impairment. Cost comprises of purchase cost and all directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to working conditions for its intended use. The useful life of property and equipment is
estimated on the basis of the economic utilization of the asset. Depreciation of property and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their depreciable values over their estimated useful lives
which are determined to be from three to five years.
The property and equipment’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
the beginning of each reporting period.
Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognized within other income in the consolidated statement of income.
2.11 Impairment of assets, other than financial assets within scope of IAS 39 and investment properties
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at least annually. Assets
that are subject to amortization or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and value
in use.
For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows, known as cash generating units (CGUs). Goodwill is allocated to CGUs to benefit
from the synergies of the combination. If the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the carrying amount
of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the unit and then to other assets of the unit pro rata, on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and risk specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. The Group prepares formal five year plans
for its businesses. These plans are used for the value in use calculation. Long range growth rates are used for
cash flows into perpetuity beyond the five year period.
Fair value less costs to sell is determined using valuation techniques and considering the outcome of recent
transactions for similar assets in the same industry and geographical region.
The Group shall assess at the end of each reporting period whether there is any indication that an impairment
loss recognized in prior periods for an asset other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If any such indication exists, the Group shall estimate the recoverable amount of the asset. The increased
carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss shall not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for
the asset in prior periods.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.12 Provisions
Provisions for liabilities are recognized when the Group has a current or a future constructive obligation as
a result of past events and it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle this
obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated.
2.13 End of service benefits
The Group provides end of service benefits to all its employees. As per the Kuwaiti law and the Parent
Company’s internal policy, the entitlement to these benefits is based upon the employees’ final salaries and
length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum service period. The expected costs of these benefits
are accrued over the period of employment. The Group expects this method to produce a reliable
approximation of the present value of this obligation.
In addition, With respect to its national employees, the Group makes contributions to Public Institution for
Social Security calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations are limited to
these contributions, which are expensed when due.
2.14 Share capital and treasury shares
Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Transaction costs related to share issuances
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or other instruments classified as equity
instruments are recognized in equity as “transaction costs related to share issuances”, and are a deduction
from the proceeds.
Treasury shares
Treasury shares consist of the Parent Company’s own shares that have been issued, subsequently reacquired
by the Group and not yet reissued or cancelled. The treasury shares are accounted for using the cost method.
Under the cost method, the weighted average cost of the shares reacquired is charged to a contra equity
account. When the treasury shares are reissued, gains are credited to a separate account in equity (gain on
sale of treasury shares) which is not distributable. Any realized losses are charged to the same account to the
extent of the credit balance on that account. Any excess losses are charged to retained earnings then reserves.
Gains realized subsequently on the sale of treasury shares are first used to offset any previously recorded
losses in the order of reserves, retained earnings and the gain on sale of treasury shares account. No cash
dividends are paid on these shares. The issue of bonus shares increases the number of treasury shares
proportionately and reduces the average cost per share without affecting the total cost of treasury shares. Any
capital reduction by amortizing the accumulated losses is considered economic losses which reduces the
number of shares. Reserves including equity transactions reserve, equal to the cost of treasury shares held
are not available for distribution.
2.15 Foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Kuwaiti Dinars which is the functional and presentation
currency of the Group using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the
consolidated statement of income.
Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign currency and classified as
available for sale are analyzed between translation differences resulting from changes in amortized cost of
the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. The translation differences related to
amortized cost are recognized in the consolidated statement of income, while other changes are recognized
in other comprehensive income.
Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognized in the consolidated statement of income as part of the investment income or loss.
Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets, such as equities instrument classified as available
for sale, are included in other comprehensive income.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)
Net assets in foreign subsidiaries and associates that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency at the exchange rates prevailing at the
reporting date. Revenues and expenses of those entities are translated at the average exchange rates for
the year. All resulting exchange differences are recognized in the foreign currency translation reserve in
other comprehensive income.
When a subsidiary that is a foreign operation repays share capital to the Parent Company with no change
in the Parent’s percentage shareholding, the proportionate share of the foreign currency translation reserve
previously recognized in the equity is reclassified to consolidated statement of income.
On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all
of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the equity
holders of the Parent Company are reclassified to the consolidated statement of income.

2.16

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, and represents amounts
receivable for service provided. The Group recognizes revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured; when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific
criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below:
• Financing income is recognized as income on a time proportion basis to yield a constant periodic interest
rate on the balance outstanding based on the effective interest rate method. The recognition of financing
income is suspended when loans become impaired.
• Services revenues are recognized in the accounting period in which services are rendered.
• Portfolio and other management advisory services fees are recognized based on the terms of the applicable
service contract. The portfolio and management fee are usually recognized on a time proportionate basis.
• Commission on brokerage services are recognized as the service is provided.
• Rent income from operating leases is recognized as income on a straight line basis over the lease term.
• Dividend income is recognized when the Group's right to receive payment is established.

2.17

Leases
Operating lease
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases.
When the Group is a lessee, payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor) are charged to the consolidated statement of income on a straight line basis over the period of
the lease.
When the Group is a lessor, assets leased to others are recorded in the Group’s statement of financial
position and the rental income is recorded as income on a straight line basis.
Finance lease
Leases in which a significant portion of the risk and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessee are
classified as finance leases.
Finance leases are capitalized at the commencement of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased
property and the present value of the minimum lease payments.
When the Group is a lessee, each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance costs. The
interest element of the finance cost is charged to the statement of income over the lease period to produce
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The property
and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset
and the lease term.
When the Group is a lessor, finance leases are capitalized at the commencement of the lease at the lower
of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Interest
income arising from finance leases are recognized by the effective interest rate method and classified as
part of finance income.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.18

Finance costs
Finance costs on borrowings and finance leases are recognized as expenses in the consolidated statement
of income using the effective interest rate method, unless the finance costs are related to qualified assets
for capitalization, in which case they are capitalized and considered part of the cost of the qualified assets.

2.19

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
year.
Diluted earnings per share are calculated using the same method as for basic earnings per share by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to reflect the potential dilution through the
increase in the ordinary shares that could occur if options, warrants, convertible debt securities or other
contracts to issue ordinary shares were converted or exercised.

2.20

Segment information
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief
Operating Decision Maker (CODM).

2.21

The Group’s businesses are organized into five business segments “Finance, Asset Management,
Investment and Corporate Finance, KFIC Private Equity Fund and Financial Brokerage and Online
Trading”. These five business divisions were presented as five operating segments in note (21).
Fiduciary assets
Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and accordingly are not
included in these consolidated financial statements.

3-

Critical accounting estimates and judgments
The following are the areas involving a high degree of judgment or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements.
Accounting judgments
Classification of financial assets measured at fair value
Management has to decide upon an acquisition of a financial asset whether it should be classified as at fair
value through profit or loss or available for sale. In making its judgment, the Group considers the primary
purpose for which the asset is acquired and how it intends to manage and report its performance. Such
judgment determines whether the changes in fair value of financial assets are reported in the consolidated
statement of income or directly in equity.
Impairment of available for sale financial assets
Management determines the impairment in equity instruments classified as available for sale when there
is a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of these investments. Determination of what is
significant or prolonged requires judgment from management. The Group evaluates, among other factors,
the usual fluctuation of listed stock prices, expected cash flows and discount rates of unquoted investments.
Impairment is considered appropriate when there is objective evidence on the deterioration of the financial
position for the investee, including factors such as industry and sector performance, changes in technology
and operational and financing cash flows. During the year, the Group recorded an impairment of available
for sale financial assets amounting to KD 79,880 (2015: KD 395,885).
Uncertainty of accounting estimates
The Group determines assumptions relating to the future. The outcome of accounting estimates are rarely
equal to the actual results. Management undertakes these assumptions based on the information that has
been available during the year, taking into consideration the economic and political circumstances of the
region. Estimates and assumptions that have a material impact attributable to adjustments affecting the
carrying values of the assets and liabilities during the next financial year are as follows:
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Critical accounting estimates and judgments (Continued)
Uncertainty of accounting estimates (Continued)
Impairment of intangible assets
The Group calculates the recoverable amount for its intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives
annually to determine whether there is impairment loss to be recorded as per the accounting policy note
(2.11). Recoverable amount is calculated based on the value in use which involves high degree of
estimates.
In estimating value in use, cash flows based on the business plans are discounted using relevant discount
rate and the terminal value is calculated by estimating the terminal growth rate.
Impairment of investments in associates
The Group calculates the recoverable amount for its investments in associates if there is an indication of
an impairment to determine whether there is any impairment loss to be recorded.
Recoverable amount is calculated based on the value in use or fair value less cost to sell whichever is
higher. In estimating the value in use, cash flows which are based on the associates’ business plans are
discounted using the relevant discount rate and the terminal value is calculated by estimating the terminal
growth rates. Fair value of the unquoted associates is determined by using valuation techniques that take
into consideration the market conditions and the difficulties that may be faced by the investee. These
involve high degree of estimates.

4-

Fair value of unquoted equity investments
Estimates are used in applying the valuation techniques used to estimate the fair value of unquoted
investments. Those techniques include the expected cash flows, recent arm’s length transactions, reference
to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and other valuation
techniques used by the participants in the market generally which is mainly represented in adjusted net
book value method. The Group calibrates the valuation techniques periodically and tests these for validity
using either prices from observable current market transactions in the same instrument or other available
observable market data.
Impairment losses on loans and receivables
The Group reviews non-performing loans on an ongoing basis to assess whether a provision for
impairment should be recorded in the consolidated statement of income as per the accounting policy note
(2.6). In particular, considerable judgment by management is required in the estimation of the amount and
timing of future cash flows when determining the level of provisions required. Such estimates are
necessarily based on assumptions about several factors involving varying degrees of judgment and
uncertainty, and actual results may differ resulting in future changes to such provisions. Note (8) includes
quantifications of impairment related to loans and receivables.
Accounting standards issued but not yet effective
A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual
periods beginning after 1 January 2016, and have not been early adopted in preparing these consolidated
financial statements. The following standards are expected to have a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group:
IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial
assets and financial liabilities. The complete version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014. It replaces the
parts of IAS 39 that relate to the classification and measurement of financial instruments. IFRS 9 retains
but simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes three primary measurement categories for
financial assets: amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI) and fair value
through profit or loss. The determination is made at initial recognition.
The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing its financial instruments and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument. Investments in equity instruments are required to
be measured at fair value through profit or loss with the irrevocable option at inception to present
changes in fair value in profit or loss or OCI. OCI is not recycled to statement of income. There is now
a new expected credit losses model that replaces the incurred loss impairment model used in IAS 39.
For financial liabilities, the standard retains most of the IAS 39 requirements.
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Accounting standards issued but not yet effective (Continued)
The main change is that, in cases where the fair value option is taken for financial liabilities, the part of a
fair value change due to an entity’s own credit risk is recorded in OCI rather than the consolidated
statement of income, unless this creates an accounting mismatch. IFRS 9 relaxes the requirements for
hedge effectiveness by replacing the bright line hedge effectiveness tests. It requires an economic
relationship between the hedged item and hedging instrument and for the ‘hedged ratio’ to be the same as
the one management actually uses for risk management purposes. Contemporaneous documentation is
still required but is different to that currently prepared under IAS 39. The standard is effective for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Early adoption is permitted. The Group is yet to
assess IFRS 9’s full impact.
IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ deals with revenue recognition and establishes
principles for reporting useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers.
Revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of a good or service and thus has the ability to
direct the use and obtain the benefits from the good or service.
The standard replaces IAS 18 ‘Revenue’ and IAS 11 ‘Construction contracts’ and related interpretations.
The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and earlier application
is permitted. The Group is yet to assess the impact of IFRS 15.
IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ will affect primarily the accounting by lessees and will result in the recognition of
almost all leases on balance sheet. The standard removes the current distinction between operating and
financing leases and requires recognition of an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial
liability to pay rentals for virtually all lease contracts. An optional exemption exists for short-term and
low-value leases.
The accounting by lessors will not significantly change. Some differences may arise as a result of the new
guidance on the definition of a lease. Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 and earlier application
is permitted only if IFRS 15 is adopted at the same time. The Group is yet to assess the impact of IFRS
16.
There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have
a material impact on the Group.

5-

Bank balances and cash
Cash at banks
Cash in investment portfolios
Fixed deposits
Money Market Fund
Bank balances and cash
Less :
Fixed deposits with a maturity greater than three months
from the date of placement
Fixed deposit blocked
Cash at banks blocked
Cash and cash equivalents

2016
6,812,129

2015
2,989,851

325,076
596,916
1,537,532
9,271,653

1,572,602
1,312,331
5,874,784

56,916
540,000
567,742
8,106,995

56,831
1,200,000
1,281,150
3,336,803

- Fixed deposits’ duration vary from three to twelve months and carry an average effective interest rate of
1.6 % per annum as of 31 December 2016 (1% per annum as of 31 December 2015).
- As of 31 December 2016, bank balances and cash amounting to KD 1,107,742 are pledged against
borrowings (KD 2,481,150 as of 31 December 2015). Out of which, an amount of KD 532,350 was used
to settle the quarterly payments of the borrowings in January 2017 (January 2016 – KD 1,193,719).
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Held for trading financial assets – quoted securities
Held for trading financial assets – unquoted securities
Designated at fair value at inception – quoted securities
Designated at fair value at inception – unquoted securities

2016
2,296,131
14,400
532,088
2,842,619

2015
2,391,230
37,736
508,627
5,803,203
8,740,796

- The fair value of quoted securities is based on their year end bid prices in active markets.
- The fair value of unquoted securities is based on valuation techniques (note 22).
- The changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recorded within
investment income in the consolidated statement of income (note 17).
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are denominated in the following currencies:
2016
Kuwaiti Dinar
US Dollar
Canadian Dollar

7-

Available for sale financial assets
Quoted equity
Unquoted equity
Investment in real estate fund

2,665,201
172,913
4,505
2,842,619
2016
271,536
3,787,404
1,303,562
5,362,502

2015
8,471,544
264,897
4,355
8,740,796
2015
736,844
263,869
1,370,064
2,370,777

- The fair value of quoted equity securities is based on their year end bid prices in active markets.
- The fair value of unquoted equity securities is based on valuation techniques (note 22).
- The fair value of the Group’s investment in real estate fund is determined by the manager of the fund
based on the recent published net asset value.
- During the year, the Group has recorded in the consolidated statement of income an impairment loss of
KD 79,880 (KD 395,885 for the year ended 31 December 2015) against certain available for sale
financial assets which had a significant decline in value (note 17).
- As of 31 December 2016, available for sale financial assets amounting to KD 103,264 are pledged
against borrowings (KD 319,852 as of 31 December 2015).
Available for sale financial assets are denominated in the following currencies:
2016
Kuwaiti Dinar
US Dollar
Saudi Arabian Riyal
United Arab Emirates Dirham
Qatari Riyal
Omani Riyal

3,706,845
1,503,013
65,143
36,906
33,002
17,593
5,362,502
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356,552
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Finance receivables

2016

Gross receivables
Less: deferred income

2015
34,974,574
(1,824,228)
33,150,346
(7,346,172)
25,804,174

25,446,951
(1,521,482)
23,925,469
(6,736,057)
17,189,412

Less: provision for credit losses

- As of 31 December 2016, finance receivables of KD 9,018,324 (KD 10,262,868 as of 31 December
2015) were impaired and provided for. The related provision for those receivables amounted to
KD 6,312,220 as of 31 December 2016 (KD 6,874,270 as of 31 December 2015).
- As of 31 December 2016, finance receivables amounting to KD 14,907,145 (KD 22,887,478 as of 31
December 2015) were performing. Included in these receivables are finance receivables balances that
are classified as past due but not impaired amounting to KD 110,160 (KD 182,412 as of 31 December
2015) representing installments that are past due for less than three months. These receivables are not
considered impaired. Following is the aging of finance receivables installments which are past due but
not impaired:
2016
2015
One month
65,713
101,683
More than one month till two months
30,375
58,472
More than two months till three months
14,072
22,257
110,160
182,412
- The fair value of collaterals held is KD 15,180,445 as of 31 December 2016 (KD 24,834,754 as of 31
December 2015) against finance receivables of KD 11,306,091 as of 31 December 2016 (KD 19,847,364
as of 31 December 2015).
- The fair value of finance receivables as of 31 December 2016 is KD 17,866,966 (KD 26,389,097 as of
31 December 2015) by using current discount market rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period.
- As of 31 December 2016 and 2015, finance receivables are mortgaged against borrowings by simple
assignment of right.
- Finance receivables are located in the State of Kuwait and denominated in Kuwaiti Dinar.
- The movements in provision for credit losses are as follows:
Specific
provision
Balance as at 1 January 2015
Net provision recovered for credit losses
Reallocation of provision for credit losses
Write-off
Balance as at 31 December 2015

8,509,849
(1,136,727)
494,562
(993,414)
6,874,270

Balance as at 1 January 2016
Net provision charged / (recovered) for credit losses
Write-off
Balance as at 31 December 2016
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6,874,270
162,175
(724,225)
6,312,220

General
provision
972,085
(5,621)
(494,562)
471,902

Total
9,481,934
(1,142,348)
(993,414)
7,346,172

471,902 7,346,172
(48,065)
114,110
(724,225)
423,837 6,736,057
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Other assets

2016
346,277
881,233
250,000
147,718
36,722
1,661,950

Accrued income
Other receivables
Contribution in brokerage guarantee fund
Prepayments
Kuwait Clearing Company

10-

Investments in associates

Ownership

Name
Incorporation
Salbookh Trading Company K.S.C.P.
Kuwait
ACM EquityCo Ltd.
Cayman Islands
ACM DebtCo Ltd.
Cayman Islands
Mena Real Estate Company K.S.C.P.
Kuwait

Name
Salbookh Trading Company K.S.C.P.
ACM EquityCo Ltd.
ACM DebtCo Ltd.
Mena Real Estate Company K.S.C.P

2016
29.51%
47.97%
44.79%
9.45%

2015
29.51%
47.97%
44.79%
-

2015
484,060
462,917
250,000
100,239
30,611
1,327,827

Carrying value
2016
4,836,213
639,009
1,112,210
367,529
6,954,961

2015
4,984,192
358,377
1,103,978
6,446,547

Profit/
(loss)
from
associates
2016

Profit/
(loss)
from
associates
2015
Recent financial statements available
Reviewed financial information
21,148 444,776 for the period ended 30 September 2016
(359)

113,358
4,043
138,190

(405)

Management report as of
31 December 2016

Management report as of
128,799 31 December 2016
Reviewed financial information
- for the period ended 30 September 2016

573,170

Salbookh Trading Company K.S.C.P.
- The associate is working in Salbookh trading industry, where it has crushers in the United Arab of Emirates
(UAE) and stores in both UAE and State of Kuwait for distribution to clients. The associate’s business is
different from the Group’s business and does not represent a strategic partner to the Group.
- The carrying value of the Group’s investment in the associate is determined to be its recoverable amount,
which is determined based on the value in use using discount rate of 9.83 % (2015: 11.35%) and terminal
growth rate of 2% (2015: 2%).if the discount increased from 9.83% to 10.08% and the terminal growth rate
decreased from 2% to 1.75% the Group would have had to recognize an impairment against the carrying
amount of associate of KD 321 thousand.
- The Group’s profit from Salbookh Trading Company K.S.C.P. amounting to KD 21,148 (KD 444,776 as
of 31 December 2015) represents the following:
2016
2015
Share of results
67,768
383,230
Amortization intangible assets
(46,620)
(83,861)
Reverse of impairment recorded in previous years
145,407
21,148
444,776
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Investments in associates (Continued)
Salbookh Trading Company K.S.C.P. (Continued)
- As of 31 December 2016, investments in the associate with a carrying value of KD 4,580,547 (KD
4,733,637 as of 31 December 2015) are pledged against borrowings.
- As of 31 December 2016, the fair value of the Group’s interest in the associate, whose shares are listed
in the Kuwait Stock Exchange, amounted to KD 1,981,665 (2015: KD 2,539,008).
Following is a summary of the recent financial information available for the associate:
Summarized statement of profit or loss:
Revenues
Expenses
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive (loss) / income
Total comprehensive income
Summarized statement of financial position as at 30
September:
Current assets
Current liabilities
Non - current assets
Non - current liabilities
Net assets

2016
9,382,288
(9,152,607)
229,681
(48,500)
181,181

2015
11,699,661
(10,399,582)
1,300,079
375,240
1,675,319

2016
10,417,483
(4,498,103)
5,968,593
(744,208)
11,143,765

2015
9,583,175
(2,664,263)
4,738,718
(187,558)
11,470,072

Following is a reconciliation of the summarized financial information presented to the carrying amount
of the Group’s interest in the associate:
2016
2015
11,470,072
9,794,753
Opening net assets 1 January
229,681
1,300,079
Profit for the year
Foreign currency translation reserve
(48,500)
265,682
109,558
Fair value reserve
(512,414)
Dividends
Other reserves
4,926
Closing net assets
11,143,765
11,470,072
3,288,006
3,384,284
Interest in the associate 29.51% (2015: 29.51%)
130,342
130,342
Goodwill
1,417,865
1,469,566
Net book value of long lived assets in the Group’s books
Carrying value
4,836,213
4,984,192
ACM EquityCo Ltd.
- The associate is a limited liability company where it is established to invest in real estate.
- The associate represents a strategic partner to the Group.
- The associate has invested its capital in Real estate investments in the United States.
- The associate is unlisted.
Following are summary of the recent financial information available for the associate:
Summarised statement of profit or loss:

2016

Expenses
Loss for the year
Total comprehensive loss
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Investments in associates (Continued)
ACM EquityCo Ltd. (Continued)
Summarized statement of financial position:
Current assets
Current liabilities
Net assets

2016

1,333,598
(1,603)
1,331,995

2015

747,870
(846)
747,024

Following is a reconciliation of the summarized financial information presented to the carrying amount of
the Group’s interest in the associate: Opening net assets 1 January
Loss for the year
Foreign currency translation reserve
Fair value reserve
Closing net assets
Carrying value

2016

2015

747,024
(748)
6,264
579,455
1,331,995
639,009

715,876
(843)
31,991
747,024
358,377

ACM DebtCo Ltd.
- The associate is a limited company where it is established to invest in real estate.
- The associate represent a strategic partner to the Group.
- The associate has invested its capital in real estate investments in United States.
- The associate is unlisted.
Following are summary of the recent financial information available for the associate:Summarised statement of profit or loss:
Revenues
Expenses
Profit for the year
Total comprehensive Income
Summarized statement of financial position:
Current assets
Current liabilities
Net assets

2016

2015

256,250
(3,150)
253,100
253,100

293,598
(6,025)
287,573
287,573

2016

2015

2,488,183
(4,911)
2,483,272

2,467,482
(2,590)
2,464,892

Following is a reconciliation of the summarized financial information presented to the carrying amount of
the Group’s interest in the associate:Opening net assets 1 January
Profit for the year
Foreign currency translation reserve
Dividend
Closing net assets
Carrying value

2016

2015

2,464,892
253,100
20,485
(255,205)
2,483,272
1,112,210

2,300,384
287,573
102,779
(225,844)
2,464,892
1,103,978
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Investments in associates (Continued)
Mena Real Estate Company K.S.C.P.
- The associate is a Kuwaiti Shareholding Company listed on the Kuwait Stock Exchange. The associate
is working in Real-estate sector and does not represent a strategic partner to the group.
- During the year, The Group’s representation in the Board of Directors of Mena Real Estate Company
K.S.C.P. has increased which gave the Group the ability to exercise a significant influence over the
investee’s operational and financial policies. Accordingly, the Group has reclassified its investment in
Mena Real Estate Company K.S.C.P. from available for sale investment to an investment in associate.
The Group has reclassified the investment by its fair value amounting to KD 364,573 and recognized
loss of KD 11,457. The Parent Company is in the process of determining the Group’s share in the fair
value of the net identifiable assets of such associate and identifying either a goodwill or bargain purchase
(if any).
Following is a summary of the recent financial information available for the associate:
Summarized statement of profit or loss:
2016
Revenues
163,984
Expenses
(118,999)
Profit for the year
44,985
Other comprehensive loss
(12,089)
Total comprehensive income
32,896
Summarized statement of financial position as at 30
September:
Current assets
Current liabilities
Non - current assets
Non - current liabilities
Non – controlling interest
Net assets

2016
3,291,631
(3,263,680)
12,269,229
(321,188)
(53,844)
11,922,148

2015

2015

-

-

Following is a reconciliation of the summarized financial information presented to the carrying amount
of the Group’s interest in the associate:
2016
2015
11,889,252
Opening net assets 1 July
44,985
Profit for the year
Foreign currency translation reserve
(5,061)
(7,028)
Fair value reserve
11,922,148
Closing net assets
1,126,643
Interest in the associate 9.45% (2015: Nil %)
Carrying value
367,529
11-

Investment properties
Following is the movement on investment properties:

2016
2015
Beginning balance
2,450,000
2,449,655
Additions
12,955,659
Change in the fair value
(186,035)
345
Foreign exchange differences
202,909
Ending balance
15,422,533
2,450,000
During the year, the Group acquired an investment property under a finance lease of USD 42,924,365
(equivalent to KD 12,955,659) through one of the group’s subsidiaries in the United States of America
(USA). The property is pledged to a foreign bank located in the (USA).
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Investment properties (Continued)
Investment properties are pledged against borrowings.
The fair value of the investment properties is determined by independent evaluators using income
capitalization approach. The fair value of the investment property is within level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy.

12-

Intangible assets
Intangible assets represent a brokerage license of the Group’s subsidiary, KFIC Financial Brokerage
K.S.C.C. The Group has tested the impairment of the brokerage license and as a result, no impairment loss
has been recorded during the current year (2015: Nil). The recoverable amount is determined using a value
in use determined by using discounted cash flow model, which uses inputs that consider features of the
brokerage business and its regulatory environment. The recoverable amount is calculated by estimating
streams of free cash flows available to shareholders over the next five years, discounted to their present
values. The terminal value reflecting all periods beyond the fifth year is calculated on the basis of the
forecast of fifth-year profit, the applicable cost of equity is 9.07% (2015: 9.25%) and the long-term growth
rate 2.5% (2015: 2%) after applying a further illiquidity discount of 15%.
The model used to determine the recoverable amount is most sensitive to changes in the forecast free cash
flows available to shareholders in years one to five, the cost of equity and to changes in the long-term
growth rate. The applied long-term growth rate is based on real growth rates and expected inflation. Free
cash flows available to shareholders are estimated on the basis of forecast results, which take into account
business initiatives and planned capital investments. If the cost of equity increased by 6% and the longterm growth rate decreased by 25%, the Group would have had to recognise an impairment against the
carrying amount of intangible assets of KD 325 thousand. Valuation parameters used within the Group’s
impairment test model are linked to external market information, where applicable.

13-

Borrowings
Local term loans and murabaha
Finance lease liability
Bonds

2016
13,925,719
7,895,777
21,821,496

2015
14,079,345
2,546,374
16,625,719

-

In 2016, local term loans and murabaha bears a floating interest rate being 3% above CBK rate. As
of 31 December 2016, the average interest rate of borrowings is 5.25% (4.75% as of 31 December
2015) per annum. Finance lease liability bears a floating interest being 2.35% above LIBOR.

-

During the year, the Group settled the outstanding bonds amounting to KD 2,240,057 via a loan
obtained from one of the local banks. The Group also agreed with the creditors to amend the
borrowing terms for the local loans and Murabaha to be as follows:
o
o

Reducing the quarterly payments from KD 1,000,000 to KD 350,000 starting from June
2016.
Extending the maturity of the loans to October 2020 with an option for rollover for an amount
of KD 7,625,729.

Followings are the present value and future minimum lease payments of the lease liability:
Future value
Present value
Within a year
246,190
Between one year and five years
1,494,624
528,851
After five years
7,499,880
7,366,926
9,240,694
7,895,777
Following is the classification of borrowings based on their maturity:
2016
2015
Current
1,400,000
4,000,000
Non-current
20,421,496
12,625,719
Total
21,821,496
16,625,719
Kuwait Finance and Investment Company - K.S.C 30
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Borrowings (continued)
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group has settled an amount of KD 350,000 from its
local term loans and murabaha installments. As a result, borrowings balances have become KD
21,471,496.

14 -

Other liabilities

2016
2,435,240
910,768
1,257,911
4,603,919

Due to suppliers and others
Employees’ leave and end of service benefits
Accrued expenses and other payables
15 -

Equity

15.1

Share capital

Capital (KD)
Capital (Shares)
(Shares) value (Fils)
Nominal

Authorised and Issued capital
2016
2015
32,249,138
32,249,138
322,491,383
322,491,383
100
100

2015
2,093,772
788,058
1,290,452
4,172,282

Paid capital
2016
2015
32,249,138
32,249,138
322,491,383
322,491,383
100
100

Capital of the Parent company has been paid in cash.
15.2

Statutory reserve
As required by the Companies Law and the Parent Company’s Articles of Association, 10% of the profit
for the year before contribution to Kuwait Foundation for Advancement of sciences, directors’
remuneration, National Labor Support Tax and Zakat expense should be transferred to the statutory
reserve. The Parent Company may resolve to discontinue such annual transfers when it exceeds 50% of
the share capital. Distribution of this reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of a
dividend of 5% of paid up share capital in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for the payment
of a dividend of that amount. The Parent Company’s Board of Directors has proposed to transfer an amount
of KD 30,000 to statutory reserve for the year 2016 (KD 150,000 for the year 2015).

15.3

General reserve
In accordance with Companies Law and the Parent Company's Article of Association, the Board of
Directors may propose appropriation from the profit for the year to the general reserve. The Parent
Company’s Board of Directors has not proposed to transfer any amount to the general reserve for the year
2016 (KD 150,000 for the year 2015).

15.4

Treasury shares

2016
13,647,672
4.23
477,780

Number of shares
Percentage of the issued share capital (%)
Market value (average) - KD

2015
13,647,672
4.23
740,209

Treasury shares are free from any encumbrance.
Reserves and retained earnings amounting to KD 3,145,214 (2015: KD 3,145,214) which are equivalent
to cost of treasury shares are not available for distribution.
16-
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Dividends
The Board of Directors of the Parent Company did not propose dividends distribution for the year 2016
(2015: Nil). This proposal is subject to the shareholders’ approval at the Annual General Assembly
meeting.
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Investment loss

2016

2015

135,267
(79,880)
(72,398)
(17,011)

201,465
(395,885)
(40,762)
(235,182)

99,024
(261,081)
(17,889)
(179,946)

134,488
(383,883)
77,392
(172,003)

(186,035)
(382,992)

345
(406,840)

Available for sale financial assets
Cash dividends
Impairment losses
Loss on sale
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Cash dividends
Change in fair value
(Loss) / Gain on sale
Investment properties
Change in fair value
18-

Earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company
Earnings per share are computed by dividing the profit for the year attributable to the equity holders of the
Parent Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year as follows:
2016
2015
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Parent
211,491
985,673
Company
Weighted average of ordinary shares outstanding:
Weighted average of shares during the year
Weighted average of treasury shares during the year
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the year
Earnings per share (fils)

322,491,383
(13,647,672)

322,491,383
(13,647,672)

308,843,711
0.7

308,843,711
3.2

There are no potential dilutive shares.
19-

Subsidiaries
Following, are the Parent Company’s subsidiaries:
Subsidiary Name

Activity

Incorporation

KFIC Financial Brokerage – K.S.C.C.
KFIC Private Equity Fund – Limited*
Al-Wasm Fund
KFIC Real Estate Company – W.L.L.
KFIC Buy and Sell Cars Company – W.L.L.
Around the world Holding S.P.C.
Calhoun Equity Co. Ltd. **
Calhoun Debt Co. Ltd. **

Brokerage
Kuwait
Investment
Cayman Island
Investment
Kuwait
Real estate
Kuwait
Cars Trade
Kuwait
Capital Investment
Bahrain
Investment
Cayman Island
Investment
Cayman Island
United State of
Calhoun Investor Corp. **
Investment
America
Al-Watheb for Management Consultants – W.L.L.
Consultancy
Kuwait

Kuwait Finance and Investment Company - K.S.C 32
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Ownership (%)
2016
2015
94
94
66.97
68.52
68.16
99
99
99
99
100
100
65.98
64.24
64.24
99

99

51

Kuwait Finance and Investment Company K.S.C. (Public)
and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars unless otherwise stated)
19-

Subsidiaries (Continued)
Liquidation of a subsidiary

*During the year, the Board of Directors (BOD) of KFIC Private Equity Fund- limited announced to the
unit holders the liquidation of the Fund and the distribution of the Fund’s assets as of 28th June 2016. As
per the BOD’s decision, the amount due to the Fund manager (the Parent Company) amounting to USD
1,309,690 has been fully settled, in cash with an amount of USD 372,635 and in kind with an amount of
USD 937,055. The Parent Company has redeemed its investment in the Fund through in kind assets. As
a result, the Parent Company has transferred the reserves relating to the Fund between the equity
components where an amount of KD 620,346 has been transferred from equity transaction reserve to the
retained earnings and an amount of KD 844,796 has been recycled from other comprehensive income to
profit and loss representing the foreign exchange differences relating to the Fund that were carried forward
in equity in previous years.
Following is the cash received / (used) as a result from this disposal as of the disposal date:
28th June 2016

Assets Disposed:
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Cash
Total assets
Liabilities Disposed:
Accrued expenses and other payables
Net Assets Disposed
Less Non-controlling interest
Consideration received

5,579,732
134,191
5,713,923
(417,393)
5,296,530
(1,718,809)
3,577,721

Assets received in kind
Cash used from liquidation

3,577,721
(134,191)

Establishment of subsidiaries:
**During the year the Parent Company established new subsidiaries in Cayman Islands to acquire a new
investment property located in the (USA). The Group has consolidated the financial statements of those
subsidiaries. Subsequent to the reporting date, the Parent Company disposed portion of its ownership in
those subsidiaries.
Subsidiaries pledged
Investments in KFIC Financial Brokerage K.S.C.C. with a net book value of KD 10,145,882 as of
31 December 2016 (31 December 2015: KD 10,446,587) is pledged against borrowings.
Summary of financial information:
Financial information of material subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests is provided below:
Proportion of equity interest held by non-controlling interests:
Calhoun investor Corp.
KFIC Private Equity Fund – Limited
KFIC Financial Brokerage – K.S.C.C.
Al-Wasm Fund
Accumulated balances of material non-controlling interests:
Calhoun investor Corp.
KFIC Private Equity Fund – Limited
KFIC Financial Brokerage – K.S.C.C.
Al-Wasm Fund
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2016
35.76%
6%
31.48%

2015

2016

2015

2,171,238
648,174
671,340
3,490,752
33

33.03%
6%
31.84%

1,790,205
666,804
687,177
3,144,186
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Subsidiaries (Continued)
The summarised financial information of these material subsidiaries is provided below. This information is
based on amounts before inter-company eliminations.
Summarized statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2016:
KFIC
Private
Equity Fund
– Limited

KFIC
Financial
Brokerage
– K.S.C.C.

415,639
(145,774)
(1,475)
268,390
268,390

(197,368)
(22,684)
(220,052)
(220,052)

388,211
(705,506)
(317,295)
(70)
(317,365)

17,988
(32,317)
(14,329)
(14,329)

96,083

(71,411)

(19,037)

(4,993)

Calhoun
Investor
Corp.

Revenues / (Deficit)
Expenses
Non-controlling Interest
Profit / (loss) for the year
Other comprehensive loss
Total comprehensive income / (loss)
Total comprehensive income / (loss)
allocated to non-controlling interests

Al-Wasm
Fund

Summarized statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2015:
Calhoun
Investor
Corp.

(Deficit) /Revenues
Expenses
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive loss
Total comprehensive loss allocated to
non-controlling interests

KFIC
Private
Equity Fund
– Limited

KFIC
Financial
Brokerage
– K.S.C.C.

-

(240,891)
(10,897)
(251,788)
(251,788)

510,409
(888,141)
(377,732)
37,569
(340,163)

(78,663)
(38,231)
(116,894)
(116,894)

-

(81,710)

(22,664)

(33,954)

-

Al-Wasm
Fund

Summarised statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016:
KFIC
Private
Equity Fund
– Limited

KFIC
Financial
Brokerage
– K.S.C.C.

14,104,685
(7,997,395)
6,107,290

Al-Wasm
Fund

-

1,936,273
(190,464)
1,745,809

2,165,571
(13,607)
2,151,964

2,171,238

-

648,174

671,340

KFIC
Private
Equity Fund
– Limited

KFIC
Financial
Brokerage
– K.S.C.C.

Calhoun
Investor
Corp.

Total assets
Total liabilities
Total equity
Attributable to non-controlling interests

Summarised statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015:
Calhoun
Investor
Corp.

-

Total assets
Total liabilities
Total equity
Attributable to non-controlling interests

5,919,949
(403,367)
5,516,582
1,790,205

2,253,826
(197,734)
2,056,092
666,804

Al-Wasm
Fund

2,192,383
(15,246)
2,177,137
687,177
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Subsidiaries (Continued)
Summarised cash flow information for year ended 31 December 2016:

KFIC
Private
Equity Fund
– Limited

KFIC
Financial
Brokerage
– K.S.C.C.

Al-Wasm
Fund

215,954
-

-

(357,079)

9,915

-

(394,535)

-

573,027

-

788,981

-

Calhoun
Investor
Corp.

Operating
Investing
Financing
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents

-

(10,844)

(751,614)

(929)

Summarised cash flow information for year ended 31 December 2015:
KFIC
Private
Equity Fund
– Limited

Calhoun
Investor
Corp.

20-

KFIC
Financial
Brokerage
– K.S.C.C.

Al-Wasm
Fund

Operating
Investing
Financing

-

198,936
(208,292)
-

(255,366)
1,074,462
-

(106,084)
(89,883)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents

-

(9,356)

819,096

(195,967)

Related parties
Related parties represent shareholders having representation in the Parent Company’s Board of Directors
and their close relatives, directors and key management personnel of the Parent Company, and associate
entities, and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. All related
party transactions are carried out on terms approved by Parent Company’s management and at an arm’s
length term.
The related parties’ balances and transactions included in the consolidated financial statements are as
follows:
2016
2015
Related parties’ balances ( Shareholders )
Bank balances and cash
3,021,370
3,468,032
Finance receivables
3,932,207
3,539,443
Other assets
655,285
189,211
Borrowings
(11,146,760)
(13,231,567)
Other liabilities
(1,418,120)
(920,558)
2016
Transactions with related parties ( Shareholders)
Finance income
Management and advisory fees earned
Finance costs
Provision for doubtful debt
Provision for credit losses
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453,730
98,780
(615,316)
(17,023)

2015
271,903
97,824
(648,314)
(30,000)
(16,187)
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Related parties (Continued)
2016

2015

Key management compensation:
Salaries, other short term benefits and end of services indemnity

(457,329)

(388,701)

Fiduciary assets

2016

2015

Investments and funds managed in a fiduciary capacity (Shareholders)
Finance portfolio managed in fiduciary capacity (Shareholders)
21-

56,024,964
12,376,913

54,221,601
7,791,100

Segment information
The Executive Committee is the Group’s chief operating decision-maker (CODM). Operating segments
have been determined based on the information reviewed by the CODM.
Revenues from external parties reported to CODM are measured in a manner consistent with that in the
consolidated statement of income.
The Group’s main activities are organized and managed through five major segments and each segment’s
financial position and performance are reported to the CODM.
Finance
This segment provides consumer loans to individuals and commercial loans to corporate entities and
individual customers.
Asset management
This segment provides services of portfolio management and custody services for clients, as well as
management of mutual funds.
Investment and corporate finance
This segment monitors the Parent Company’s direct investments and also provides investment banking
services as well as financial consultancy services for clients.
KFIC private equity fund
This represents a subsidiary, which has direct equity investments in companies operating in the Middle
East Region.
Financial brokerage and online trading
This segment provides the brokerage and online trading services to the clients.

Finance

Investment
and
Asset
corporate
management
finance

KFIC
private
equity
fund

Financial
brokerage
and online
trading

Total

31 December 2016
Allocated revenues
Allocated expenses
Segment results
Unallocated revenues
Unallocated expenses
Net profit

2,112,123
(1,549,965)
562,158

1,292,838
(857,814)
435,024

1,203,888
(619,454)
584,434

Segment assets
Unallocated assets
Total assets
Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities
Total liabilities

18,075,472

2,466,231

29,057,272

2,750,455

152,113

8,747,970

400,824
(871,353)
(470,529)

4,812,305
(3,921,270)
891,035
99,930
(778,832)
212,133

-

10,447,911

-

211,033

60,046,886
8,030,745
68,077,631
11,861,571
14,563,844
26,425,415

(197,368)
(22,684)
(220,052)
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Segment information (Continued)

Finance

Investment
and
Asset
corporate
management
finance

KFIC
private
equity
fund

Financial
brokerage
and online
trading

Total

31 December 2015
Allocated revenues
Allocated expenses
Segment results
Unallocated revenues
Unallocated expenses
Net profit

2,452,378
(365,592)
2,086,786

Segment assets
Unallocated assets
Total assets
Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities
Total liabilities

26,172,512

2,607,270

12,480,898

5,919,949

10,704,882

2,385,515

142,835

789,914

5,281

198,605

22 -

809,614
(901,498)
(91,884)

790,927
(549,018)
241,909

(240,891)
598,455
(10,897) (1,148,711)
(251,788) (550,256)

4,410,483
(2,975,716)
1,434,767
49,124
(636,546)
847,345
57,885,511
4,454,107
62,339,618
3,522,150
17,275,851
20,798,001

Fair value estimation
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between
knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.
Fair values are determined from quoted prices in active markets where these instruments are available. A
market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available that represent actual and
regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. Fair value of a financial asset or financial
liability in an active market is the current bid price times the number of units of the instrument held. If the
market for a financial asset is not active (and for unlisted securities), the Group establishes fair value by
using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other
instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing models
making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.
These valuation techniques and models involve a degree of estimation, the extent of which depends on the
instrument’s complexity and the availability of market-based data. Valuation adjustments may be made to allow
for additional factors including risk models, liquidity risk and credit risk. Based on the estimated fair value and
model governance policies and related controls and procedures applied, management believes that these
valuation adjustments are necessary and appropriate to fairly state the values of financial instruments carried at
fair value on the consolidated statement of financial position.
When entering into a transaction where model inputs are not market observable, the financial instrument is
initially recognized at the transaction price, which is generally the best indicator of fair value.
Fair values of all financial instruments are not materially different from their carrying values. For financial
assets and financial liabilities that are liquid or having a short-term maturity other than bank balances and cash
(less than three months), the carrying amount approximates their fair value.
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair values of financial instruments:
- Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active market for the same instrument.
- Level 2: Quoted prices in active market for similar instruments from Funds’ managers or other valuation
techniques for which all significant inputs are based on observable market data either directly or
indirectly.
- Level 3: Valuation techniques which include significant inputs that are not based on observable market data.
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Fair value estimation (Continued)
The following table shows the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial assets recorded at fair
value:
Total fair
value
31 December 2016
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
2,296,131
546,488
2,842,619
Available for sale financial assets
271,536
1,503,014
3,587,952
5,362,502
Investment properties
- 15,422,533
- 15,422,533
31 December 2015
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Available for sale financial assets
Investment property

Level 1
2,899,857
736,844
-

Level 2
1,595,713
2,450,000

Level 3
5,840,939
38,220
-

Total fair
value
8,740,796
2,370,777
2,450,000

The following table represents the changes in Level 3 instruments for the years ended 31 December 2016 and
2015.
Level 3 movement
2016
2015
Opening balance
5,879,159
5,228,722
Purchase of available for sale financial assets
29,106
Liquidation of a subsidiary
(1,724,134)
Foreign currency translation
57
Reclassification from associate
334,965
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
(25,727)
285,562
Change in fair value reserve of available for sale financial assets
5,142
747
Ending balance
4,134,440
5,879,159
The method of valuation used in Level 3 is the net book value method adjusted for legal, marketability and
illiquidity discounts ranging between 20% and 25%. Increase /decrease in discount rate by 5% would change
the fair value by KD 194,872.

23 -

Financial risk management
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
Market risk is being subdivided into foreign currency risk, equity price risk, interest rate risk and
prepayment risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
The Group has Risk Management department whereby risks are identified, measured and monitored.
Following is the general framework of the risk management policies applied in the Group.
Risk management structure
Board of Directors
The Board of Directors of the Parent Company is responsible for developing the overall risk management
framework, and approving risk management strategies.
Risk management and reporting system
Monitoring of risks is managed through reports provided by Risk Management department and through
limits set by the Board of Directors. These limits reflect the Group’s business strategy and market
conditions and the environment in which the Group is operating.
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Financial risk management (Continued)

23.1

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the value of an asset will fluctuate as a result of changes in market variables
such as foreign exchange rates, equity prices, interest rates and prepayment whether those changes are
caused by factors specific to the individual investment or its issuer or factors affecting all investments
traded in the market.
(i)
Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to a change in
foreign exchange rates. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from currency exposures
mainly with US Dollar, Saudi Arabian Riyal, United Arab Emirates Dirham and Qatari Riyal.
The Group monitors foreign currency exposure on an ongoing basis, appropriate decisions are taken to
minimize the exposure to a specific currency when required.
Had the exchange rate of the following currencies increased by 5% against the Kuwaiti Dinar, with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s consolidated statement of income and equity would have been
shifted by the following amounts:
2016
2015
Impact on the
Impact on the
consolidated
consolidated
Impact on
Impact on
statement of
statement of
Description
income
equity
income
equity
USD
70,752
70,752
23,787
23,787
SAR
7,365
7,365
21,882
21,882
AED
4,449
4,449
4,907
4,907
QAR
1,209
1,209
5,744
5,744
Others
162
162
1,385
1,385
Net position of major currencies by KD
Long 2016

USD
1,415,050

SAR
147,295

AED
88,982

QAR
24,171

Others
3,237

Long 2015

USD
475,738

SAR
437,633

AED
98,131

QAR
114,872

Others
27,691

(ii)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities will fluctuate as a result of changes in the level
of equity indices or the value of the individual share prices. The Group is exposed to price risk arising
from financial assets that are classified as “available for sale”, or “at fair value through profit or loss”.
To manage this risk, the Group diversifies its investments in various segments to avoid concentration risk.
Furthermore, the Group has its own policies in terms of studying and evaluating investment opportunities.
These policies are implemented through the authority matrix approved by the Board of Directors.
For unquoted investments, the Group prepares on a regular basis studies to determine whether there is
impairment in value of these investments.
The table below summarizes the impact of an increase in the various stock exchange indexes on the
Group’s consolidated statement of income and on equity. The following analysis is based on the
assumption that the equity indexes would increase by 5% with all other variables held constant.
Impact on the consolidated
Impact on equity
statement of income
2015
2015
Description
2016
2016
Kuwait stock exchange
121,580
115,514
3,164
10,347
Saudi stock exchange
3,075
12,081
Qatar stock exchange
1,656
4,377
Dubai stock exchange
1,621
3,753
Other
8,789
15,019
771
Total
130,369
130,533
10,287
30,558
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23 23.1

Financial risk management (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)
(iii)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate fair value risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in the market interest rates. The Group is not exposed to this risk on its borrowing as the
borrowings carry floating interest rate and no borrowings classified at fair value through profit or loss
category. The Group is not exposed to this risk on its finance receivables as such receivables are carried
at amortized cost less impairment.
Interest rate cash flow risk is the risk that the cash flows will fluctuate because of change in the market
interest rates. The Group is exposed to the risk of fluctuations in cash flows resulting from changes in
interest rates of borrowings, which bear floating interest rates. The Group manages this risk by monitoring
the changes in the interest rates and studying the effects on its cash flows.
Had interest rates increased by 50 basis points of the interest rate applied, the net loss for the year of the
Group would have increased by KD 77,897 for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: KD 90,884).
(iv)

Prepayment risk

Prepayment risk is the risk that the Group will incur a financial loss because its clients and counterparties
repay or request to repay the loans earlier; for example for loans which have fixed interest rate during the
periods of witnessing a decline in interest rate. The Group is not significantly exposed to prepayment risk.
23.2

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the counter party will cause a financial loss to the Group by failing to discharge
an obligation. Assets that are exposed to credit risk are bank balances, finance receivables, and other
assets.
The Group manages the credit risk related to bank balances through dealing with local and foreign
financial institutions, which have a good credit reputation, while for the finance receivables the Group
established credit policies to mitigate the credit risk of such receivables.
Credit risk management framework
The Group placed credit policy to define the criteria of credit granting which is approved by the Board of
Directors. Any amendment to that policy has to be approved by the Board of Directors. Furthermore,
authority matrix in credit granting has been set as part of the credit policy. Moreover, the role of the
Executive Committee includes the decision on granting credit that exceeds a specific limit. The Board of
Directors has the ultimate authority to grant credit if the credit amount is above the authority limit of the
Executive Committee.
Collateral
Commercial finance receivables are secured against investments in quoted and unquoted securities, real
estate properties and vehicles. Management monitors the market value of collaterals, and may request
additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement, during its review of the adequacy of
the provision for credit losses.
The Group classifies its regular commercial clients for which collaterals are obtained according
to risk exposure as the following:
-

High Quality: Regular exposures with a normal risk covered fully by securities and real estate
collaterals in excess of 100% of the outstanding amount.
Standard Quality: All other regular exposures.

40

Kuwait Finance and Investment Company - K.S.C (Public) And its subsidiaries

59

Kuwait Finance and Investment Company K.S.C. (Public)
and its subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars unless otherwise stated)
23 23.2

Financial risk management (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
The following is the degree of exposure to the credit risk for the finance receivables that are:
Regular commercial clients
High
Standard
Total
quality
quality

2016
Finance receivables:
Commercial finance
2015
Finance receivables:
Commercial finance

4,528,787
4,528,787

2,995,477
2,995,477

7,524,264
7,524,264

7,203,531
7,203,531

1,708,632
1,708,632

8,912,163
8,912,163

As of 31 December 2016, the finance receivables, which are fully covered by collaterals, represent 19 %
(22% as of 31 December 2015) of the gross balance of finance receivables less deferred income.
Credit risk measurement
The Group measures credit risk in terms of asset quality using two primary measures – the provisioning
ratio and the non-performing finance receivables ratio.
Definitions of past due and impaired loans
The following classification of credit exposures is considered by the Group for identifying impaired
credit facilities.
Number of days past due
Classification
Within 90 days
More than 90 days but not exceeding 180 days
More than 180 days but not exceeding 365 days
More than 365 days

Watch list
Substandard
Doubtful
Bad

Bank balances are neither past due nor impaired and are placed with high credit rating institutions.
The maximum exposure to credit risk as at the reporting date is the carrying values of the financial
assets recorded in the consolidated financial statements that are subject to credit risk without
considering any collaterals.

23.3

Hereunder, the assets exposed to credit risk without considering the collateral.
2016
Bank balances
9,271,653
Finance receivables
17,189,412
Other assets
1,514,232

2015
5,874,784
25,804,174
1,227,588

27,975,297

32,906,546

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its financial liabilities when they fall due.
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities. To
provide liquidity, the Group is managing its assets to provide the required liquidity and monitoring the
cash flows on regular basis by estimating the future cash flows and keeping liquid assets at a minimum
10% from its liabilities.
The table below analyses the Group’s financial assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the consolidated financial statements. Balances due within 12 months
from reporting date equal their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant.
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23 23.3

Financial risk management (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
Maturity profile of financial assets and liabilities at 31 December 2016:
Up to 3
3-6
6 months
1 – 3 years
months
months
– 1 year
Assets
8,681,653
590,000
Bank balances and cash
Available for sale financial
assets
271,536
5,090,966
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Finance receivables
3,603,598
Other assets
1,264,232
Liabilities
Term loans and murabaha
Finance lease liabilities
Other liabilities

23.4

Total
-

9,271,653

-

5,362,502

13,549,483

1,085,682
1,085,682

2,296,131
4,254,398
7,412,065

546,488
7,586,707
13,224,161

1,794,308
250,000
2,044,308

2,842,619
18,324,693
1,514,232
37,315,699

352,003
61,548
3,937,906
4,351,457

532,063
61,548
593,611

1,055,919
123,095
1,179,014

4,029,403
580,288
666,013
5,275,704

10,204,189
8,414,215
18,618,404

16,173,577
9,240,694
4,603,919
30,018,190

Maturity profile of financial assets and liabilities at 31 December 2015:
Up to 3
3-6
6 months
1 – 3 years
months
months
– 1 year
Assets
5,824,784
50,000
Bank balances and cash
Available for sale
financial assets
164,026
609,519
1,597,232
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
2,899,857
5,840,939
5,708,613
4,816,929
2,465,319
13,007,797
Finance receivables
Other assets
977,588
Liabilities
Term loans and murabaha
Bonds
Other liabilities

Over 3
years

12,675,011

846,841
153,159
3,600,640
4,600,640

Over 3
years

Total
-

5,874,784

-

2,370,777
8,740,796
27,036,082
1,227,588
45,250,027
15,197,992
2,748,413
4,172,282
22,118,687

5,426,448

5,415,176

20,445,968

1,037,424
250,000
1,287,424

1,018,139
184,139
1,202,278

2,005,050
362,631
2,367,681

11,327,962
2,048,484
571,642
13,948,088

-

Capital risk management
The Parent Company's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. To maintain or
change the capital structure, the Parent Company may adjust the dividends paid to the shareholders, or
return the capital, or issue new shares or sell assets to reduce its debts. In order to maintain or adjust the
capital structure, as followed by other companies in the same business, the Group monitors capital on the
basis of gearing ratio. The ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as
total borrowings less bank balances and cash. Total capital is calculated as equity as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position plus net debt.
The gearing ratio as of 31 December is as follows:
2016
2015
Total borrowings
21,821,496
16,625,719
(Less) Bank balances and cash
(9,271,653)
(5,874,784)
Net debt
12,549,843
10,750,935
Total equity
41,652,216
41,541,617
Total capital
54,202,059
52,292,552
Gearing ratio
23.15%
20.56%
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24-

Fiduciary assets
Portfolios and funds under the management of the Parent Company amounted to KD 219,293,489 as of
31 December 2016 (KD 236,281,831 as of 31 December 2015). Management fee related to these fiduciary
assets amounted to KD 1,257,418 for the year ended 31 December 2016 (KD 875,132 for year 2015).
Finance portfolios under management amounted to KD 12,376,913 as of 31 December 2016 (KD
7,791,100 as of 31 December 2015). Management fee related to this portfolio amounted to KD 89,060 for
the year ended 31 December 2016 (KD 39,188 for the year ended 31 December 2015).

25-

Contingent assets
The Group has a contingent asset of US $ 589,036 which represents the remaining amount of management
fee to be collected from a counter party as per a settlement agreement signed with that party.

26-

Capital commitment
The Parent Company has a capital commitment of KD 7,000,000 which represents the capital increase of
its subsidiary KFIC Financial Brokerage Company.

27-

Non cash transactions
As disclosed in (note 11), an acquisition of investment property with an amount of KD 12,955,659 has
taken place via finance lease structure, accordingly, such amount has not been reflected in the consolidated
statement of cash flows.
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